






From: LeMire, Rebecca [mailto:lemirer@ci.beloit.wi.us]  

Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 4:02 PM 
To: Sen.Cowles; Rep.Kerkman 

Cc: Haas, Michael R - GAB; Loudenbeck, Amy; Rep.Spreitzer; Sen.Ringhand; Sen.Nass 
Subject: LAB Audit of the GAB 

 

To the Honorable Robert Cowles and the Honorable Samantha Kerkman: 

 

Please accept this email as written testimony regarding the Government Accountability 

Board for the upcoming public hearing. 

 

I have worked with several staff members at the GAB over the four years that I have been 

the City Clerk for the City of Beloit. The existence of this neutral agency is essential during 

these politically-charged times. In the four years that I have been the Clerk, I have 

participated in local redistricting efforts, changed polling places, experienced Voter ID go 

into and out of effect at least four times, administered up to 6 elections per year, 

participated in accessibility audits of several polling places, managed numerous election law 

changes, and purchased new vote tabulating equipment – just to name a few major events. 

Completing these tasks successfully could not have happened without the knowledge, 

expertise, and support of the staff at the GAB.  

 

I have participated in countless training webinars produced and presented by GAB staff. I 

have attended many Statewide Voter Registration System (SVRS) training sessions in the 

GAB office. The GAB sends staff to every Wisconsin Municipal Clerk’s Association annual 

conference and many regional meetings.  

 

Wisconsin Clerks are a diverse group of people with educational and experience levels that 

range from one end of the spectrum to the other. The GAB has found ways to communicate 

effectively with all of us, which is no small task. The bottom line is that the staff members 

at the GAB are invaluable to the administration of elections at the local level. GAB staff 

members are intelligent, thought-provoking, and helpful. They provide consistency for 

Clerks during inconsistent times.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

Rebecca Houseman LeMire  

 

Rebecca Houseman LeMire | City Clerk  

D. 608 364 6684 | C. 608 751 7766 
lemirer@beloitwi.gov 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 
100 State Street Beloit, WI 53511 
P. 608 364 6600 

Pop. 36,966 (2010 Census) 

 

beloitwi.gov   
 

 



Kelly Michaels
City Clerk

2000 N Calhoun Rd
Brookfield WI 53005

(262) 782-9650

January 9, 2015

The Honorable Robert Cowles
State Senator
P.O. Box 7882
Madison, WI 53707-7882
Sen.Cowles@legis.wi.gov

RE: Public Hearing re: GAB Performance

Dear Senator Cowles:

Thank you for providing me with an opportunity to give you feedback on the Government
Accountability Board. As a municipal clerk with over 25 years of experience working for three
different municipalities over the years, I can assure you I am vested when legislation impacting
municipalities is considered. This being one of those times, I feel I must speak up.

When I first began my duties in local government, election management was handled with little
to no oversight from anyone. There was a lack of coordination, no comprehensive training,
methods and procedures were home grown and there was little to no consistency between
processes from one municipality to another. There was no statewide data base, no audits, little
technology and frankly not much accountability.

The Government Accountability Board has proven to be an excellent resource for the
improvement of election management across the state. The election process has grown over the
years with more and more legislation and an incredible amount of public scrutiny and criticism.
The GAB has thankfully taken on a very large role in providing guidance, support, training,
education, common procedures, manuals, notices, reminders and forms. Most importantly, the
GAB provides oversight to keep elections in Wisconsin fair! Statewide systems and procedures
from the GAB gives municipalities the ability to detect voter fraud and abuse across municipal
borders much easier; voter experience is consistent no matter what community an elector lives
in; and translating legislation into process and procedures is done superbly!

The staff at the GAB is educated, well informed, professional, supportive, and most importantly
non-partisan in carrying out their function. Frankly, I believe they have done a tremendous job
and would encourage you to allow them to continue their fine work for the electors, candidates,
counties and municipalities across Wisconsin.



With regard to the Legislative Audit Bureau’s exceptions report. This is a great tool for self-
improvement! Respectfully, there is no individual, business, government agency or legislator
who can say they have no room for improvement. We all have room and should strive daily for
it by assessing what went well and working towards the betterment in those areas that did not.
The LAB audit is meant for that purpose and using it for any other agenda is just wrong.

Instead of considering to disband the Government Accountability Board, I would encourage you
to provide the support needed for the GAB to not only continue their function in its current form,
but provide them the necessary staffing and funds to improve in those areas that need it.

Thank you again for allowing me this opportunity.

Sincerely,
CITY OF BROOKFIELD

Kelly Michaels, CMC, WCMC
City Clerk



Kelly Michaels
City Clerk

2000 N Calhoun Rd
Brookfield WI 53005

(262) 782-9650

January 9, 2015

The Honorable Samantha Kerkman
State Representative
P.O. Box 8952
Madison, WI 53708
Rep.Kerkman@legis.wi.gov

RE: Public Hearing re: GAB Performance

Dear Representative Kerkman:

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



 

 
January 12, 2015 

 

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

Accountability Board. As a municipal clerk with over 20 years of experience, I can assure you I 

am vested when legislation impacting municipalities is considered.   This being one of those 

times, I feel compelled to share my thoughts with you. 

 

When I first began my duties in local government, election management was handled with little 

to no oversight from anyone.  There was a lack of coordination, no comprehensive training, 

methods and procedures were home grown and there was little to no consistency between 

processes from one municipality to another.   There was no statewide data base, no audits, little 

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

education, common procedures, manuals, notices, reminders and forms.  Most importantly, the 

GAB provides oversight to keep elections in Wisconsin professional and accountable. 

Statewide systems and procedures from the GAB gives municipalities the ability to detect voter 

fraud and abuse across municipal borders much easier; voter experience is consistent no matter 

what community an elector lives in; and translating legislation into process and procedures is 

done efficiently. 

 

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



With regard to the Legislative Audit Bureau’s exceptions report.  This is a great tool for self- 

improvement. Respectfully, there is no individual, business, government agency or legislator 

who can say they have no room for improvement.   We are all accountable and should strive 

daily for assessing what went well and working towards the betterment in those areas that 

require attention. The GAB audit is meant for that purpose and using it for any other agenda is 

just wrong. 

 

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

 

Helen Schmidlkofer 
 

Helen Schmidlkofer, MMC 

City Clerk 

City of Chilton 

42 School Street 

Chilton, WI 53014 











 

January 12, 2015 

 

The Honorable Robert Cowles 

State Senator 

PO Box 7882 

Madison, WI 53707-7882 

Sen.Cowles@legis.wi.gov 

 

The Honorable Samantha Kerkman 

State Representative 

P.O. Box 8952 

Madison, WI 53708 

Rep.Kerkman@legis.wi.gov 

 

Dear Senator Cowles and Representative Kerkman: 

 

I would like to reach out and let you know how I feel about the potential restructuring of the Government Accountability 

Board and why I believe it will be detrimental to the integrity of elections in Wisconsin. 

 

I came on as municipal clerk of the City of De Pere one week before the recall election of Governor Scott Walker.  I still 

look back to that week and feel grateful to the GAB for what they did to help me get through that first election as a 

municipal clerk.  Without them, I don’t know what I would have done to get through that election.  I am truly amazed by 

what they are able to accomplish with the over 1800 clerks administering elections in the state of Wisconsin.  They have 

accessible and informative training webinars and seminars and materials at the fingertips of clerks and poll workers 

throughout the state.  The changes that they have had to implement have been nonstop since I started as a clerk, and I am 

grateful to have them by my side to guide me through them.  I feel confident in training my poll workers because I am 

confident that I have a firm understanding of state election laws and it is all thanks to the GAB and their staff.   

 

The Statewide Voter Registration System that they oversee has been an invaluable tool for the State; their staff providing 

support for the software is always helpful and knowledgeable and this system saves me hours of time in election 

preparation work. 

 

I have never thought the GAB to be a partisan organization; I know that everyone has their political beliefs and I have 

never thought of the GAB as anything but supportive and non-partisan, just as I believe I should be in my role as 

municipal clerk.  

 

I urge you to take this audit as it is: a starting point to guide the GAB to making improvements. We have an excellent 

election system in the state of Wisconsin.  I feel lucky to be a part of it, and I know that what we have would not be 

possible without the GAB and everything that they’ve done to administer elections in Wisconsin.   

 

Thank you for your service to our state, and thank you for taking into consideration my thoughts on the GAB.   

 

Happy New Year! 

 

 

Shana Defnet, Clerk-Treasurer, City of De Pere 

















From: Renee Hazelton [mailto:hazelton@mauston.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 12:59 PM 
To: Sen.Cowles 
Subject: Public Hearing Regarding GAB Perfomance 
Importance: High 
 
Thank you for allowing me an opportunity to give you feedback on the Government Accountability 
Board.  I have been a Deputy Clerk for almost 23 years and I also can assure you that I am vested when 
legislation impacting the different municipalities across the state is being considered.  When I first took 
over the handling of elections, there was not much accountability.  I have found working with the 
Government Accountability Board to be enjoyable and very resourceful.  The staff there is very 
educated, well informed, supportive and professional and most importantly non‐partisan.  I believe they 
have done a tremendous job to help keep our elections fair.    We all have areas that we can improve 
upon and this is where I believe the Legislative Audit Bureau’s report can help the Government 
Accountability Board to better the office.  I don’t believe the audit is meant to disband the Board and 
doing so in any way is just pure wrong.  I would encourage you to please provide support to continue 
with the current board’s function and give them the necessary staffing and funds so that they can 
improve in the function of what the audit has concluded. 
Thank you again for allowing me to voice my concern.  
 
Renee Hazelton, Deputy Clerk‐WCMC/CMC 
City of Mauston  
303 Mansion Street 
Mauston, WI  53948 
(608)847‐6676 Ext. 303 
 



From: Ginny Brost [mailto:vbrost@medfordwi.us]  

Sent: Monday, January 12, 2015 3:31 PM 

To: Sen.Cowles; Rep.Kerkman 

Subject: Public Hearing - GAB Performance 

 

January 12, 2015 

 

Dear Senator Cowles and Representative Kerkman: 

 

As a municipal clerk, I would like to offer my thoughts regarding the Government Accountability 

Board.  When I began my duties as City Clerk, election management had little to no oversight from 

anyone.  There was a lack of coordination, no comprehensive training, and no formal procedures.  I 

basically followed what had been done by past Clerks.  There was little to no consistency between 

processes from one municipality to another.  There was no statewide data base, no audits, little 

technology, and not much accountability. 

 

The Government Accountability Board has proven to be an excellent resource for the improvement of 

election administration throughout the State.  The election process has grown over the years with more 

legislation and an incredible amount of public scrutiny.  The Government Accountability Board has taken 

over a very large role in providing guidance, support, training, education, common procedures, manuals, 

notices, reminders, and forms – something I greatly appreciate!  Most importantly the Government 

Accountability Board provides oversight in a fair and consistent manner.  Statewide systems and 

procedures give municipalities the ability to more easily detect voter fraud and abuse across municipal 

borders. The voter’s experience is consistent no matter what community an elector lives in.  In addition, 

the Government Accountability Board translates legislation into processes and procedures along with 

supporting material that can be easily accessed through their web site. 

 

The Government Accountability personnel are educated, well-informed, profession, supportive, and most 

importantly non-partisan in carrying out their duties and responsibilities.  I believe they have done a 

tremendous job, and would encourage you to allow them to continue their work for the electors, 

candidates, counties, and municipalities across Wisconsin. 

 

The Legislative Audit Bureau’s report is a great tool for self-improvement. The report can and should be 

used to evaluate what is working and what is not; and to implement changes to improve the overall 

functions of the Government Accountability Board. 

 

Instead of considering to disband the Government Accountability Board, I would encourage you to 

support the Government Accountability Board to not only continue their current functions, but provide 

them with the tools needed to improve in those areas that need it. 

 

Thank you. 

 

Ginny Brost, Clerk 

City of Medford 

639 South Second Street 

Medford, WI  54451 

Phone:  715-748-1181 

Fax:  715-748-1289 

Population:  4,350 

 















 

205 S. Webster Avenue 
Omro, WI 54963 
(920) 685‐7000  
 

The Honorable Robert Cowles 
Wisconsin State Senator 
P.O. Box 7882 
Madison, WI 53707‐7882 
Sen.Cowles@legis.wi.gov 
 
Dear Senator Cowles and Legislative Audit Committee Members, 
 
On behalf of the election administration for the City of Omro, I would appreciate a few minutes of your time in 
reviewing this letter addressing concerns with any major changes to the Government Accountability Board as 
a result of the Legislative Audit Bureau’s December 2014 report.  As a state certified Clerk‐Trainer, I do not 
recommend any changes to the GAB, only proper funding and staff levels. 
 
As the 2013‐2014 President and fifteen year member of the Wisconsin Municipal Clerks Association, I traveled 
all around our state and attended many conferences and training sessions on elections.  The GAB sessions are 
always extremely well attended and appreciated.  As clerks, we know what a valuable resource tool they are in 
providing us with policies and uniform procedures in election administration processes.  It is comforting to 
know that we have such dedicated and knowledgeable support at our fingertips when we are in need of it.  
Their website is also a tool that I utilize daily for new information and updated changes and forms.  
 
I have conducted the elections in our community since the year 2000.  Over those years I have seen a 
tremendous change in election legislation that has drastically affected how I conduct my local election 
processes, especially the implementation of SVRS. Each change, many for the better, some not, has resulted in 
additional unfunded mandates for staff time and expenses related to the election processes for the city.  This 
is staff we do not have.  I am it for the clerk staff in our city.  What once comprised about 5‐10% of my job 
duties has increased to 35‐40% over the last seven years.  I do not have the additional staff to assign projects 
and oversight to.  I simply prioritize and put other items on the back burner.  I would imagine that the GAB 
duties have increased accordingly.   
 
I believe that is what the GAB has been doing to maintain, shuffling projects to the back burner based on 
priority.  After reading the entire report, my conclusion is that many of the recommendations would be 
rectified if adequate staffing and funding were made available to the GAB, especially when new legislative 
impacts occur.   As dedicated election administration employees, the GAB and staff appears to be prioritizing 
to meet the federal requirements and other initiatives as staffing levels allow, mainly because this is where 
the majority of their funding to operate is coming from.    
 



Under the Administrative Rules section of the report it quotes: “Because the process for rule promulgation 
includes legislative approval, rules afford the Legislature an opportunity to help determine how GAB fulfills 
certain responsibilities. Through September 2014, GAB did not promulgate seven statutorily required 
administrative rules. Staff indicated promulgation did not occur, in part, because they were busy with other 
tasks, such as helping to administer recall elections. However, more than eight years have passed since 
statutes first required six of the seven rules to be promulgated (Bureau, GAB ‐2014).”  I simply ask, how can 
any understaffed organization maintain current tasks and continuously add new requirements, without also 
adding the additional funding and staff to accomplish those tasks and requirements.  Eventually, something 
will get left to the wayside in any organization that operates in this manner.   

Lack of staffing is also evident under the Staffing Inefficiencies section.  “ GAB has included requests for 
additional staff in each of its last three biennial budget requests. In its 2011‐13 Biennial Budget Request, it 
requested to convert 21.00 federally funded project positions into permanent GPR‐funded positions, but this 
request was not included in the Governor’s Biennial Budget Proposal. In its 2013‐15 Biennial Budget Request, 
GAB requested six new GPR‐funded positions for its Elections Division, but this request was not included in the 
Governor’s Biennial Budget Proposal. In its 2015‐17 Biennial Budget Request, GAB requested to convert 22.0 
federally funded project positions into permanent federally funded positions, the costs of which GAB’s staff 
indicated can be covered by existing federal revenue until FY 2016‐17. Thereafter, another funding source 
would need to be identified to fund these positions. The Biennial Budget Request indicates that the loss of 
these 22.0 positions would impair the ability of GAB’s staff to fulfill certain statutorily required duties, such as 
overseeing election administration. For example, all staff who train local election officials are currently in 
federally funded project position (Bureau, GAB‐2014).” 
 
Because the GAB is such an important resource to every clerk across our great state, it is imperative that the 
state gives them the resources they need to continue to provide support to the election processes throughout 
Wisconsin.  We need to keep this process efficient, consistent, and most importantly non‐partisan in nature.  
The voters of this state are relying on us to do so.    

The public hearing on this matter should be a great opportunity for the Legislative Audit Committee to look at 
the report findings in a positive light, listen intently to the testimony of clerks from across our state, and 
address the recommendations with the adequate resources needed to make the GAB operate even better 
than it does today.  The State of Wisconsin needs to authorize the staff positions expiring this year and 
guarantee future funding for the unfilled positions so the GAB can stop trying to preserve the Federal funding, 
hire necessary staff, and address the report recommendations to get the job done.    

I believe eliminating or drastically altering the GAB resource for the clerks and voters in Wisconsin would be 
detrimental to the integrity of our elections in this state.  I would prefer us to keep moving FORWARD not 
backwards in our election processes.  
 
Regards, 
 

 
Barbara J. Van Clake, MMC, WCPC 
IIMC ‐Master Municipal Clerk 
Wisconsin Certified Professional Clerk  
 
 
 
Works Cited 
Bureau, Legislative Audit (2014). Government Accountability Board . Madison: State of Wisconsin Legislative Audit Bureau. 











CITY OF RICHLAND CENTER 

Office of the City Clerk / Treasurer 

450 S. Main Street 

Richland Center, WI  53581 

Phone: 608-647-3466 

 

 

January 13, 2015 

 

The Honorable Samantha Kerkman 

State Representative 

P.O. Box 8952 

Madison, WI 53708 

Rep.Kerkman@legis.wi.gov 

 

RE: Public Hearing re: GAB Performance 

 

Dear Representative Kerkman: 

 

Thank you for providing me with an opportunity to give you feedback 

on the Government Accountability Board. As a municipal clerk with 

over 21 years of experience working for the City of Richland Center,  

I can assure you I am vested when legislation impacting municipalities  

is considered. This being one of those times, I feel I must speak up. 

 

When I first began my duties in local government, election management 

was handled with littleto no oversight from anyone. There was a lack of 

coordination, no comprehensive training, methods and procedures were 

home grown and there was little to no consistency between processes  

from one municipality to another. There was no statewide data base, no  

audits, little technology and frankly not much accountability. 

 

The Government Accountability Board has proven to be an excellent  

resource for the improvement of election management across the state.  

The election process has grown over the years with more and more  

legislation and an incredible amount of public scrutiny and criticism. 

The GAB has thankfully taken on a very large role in providing guidance,  

mailto:Rep.Kerkman@legis.wi.gov


support, training, education, common procedures, manuals, notices,  

reminders and forms. Most importantly, the GAB provides oversight  

to keep elections in Wisconsin fair! Statewide systems and procedures 

from the GAB gives municipalities the ability to detect voter fraud and  

abuse across municipal borders much easier; voter experience is consistent 

no matter what community an elector lives in; and translating legislation  

into process and procedures is done superbly!  The staff at the GAB is  

educated, well informed, professional, supportive, and most importantly 

non-partisan in carrying out their function. Frankly, I believe they have  

done a tremendous job and would encourage you to allow them to continue 

their fine work for the electors, candidates, counties and municipalities  

across Wisconsin. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Melinda D. Jones 

City Clerk 
 













 
 
 
 
 
 
 
January 12, 2015 
 
Representative Kerkman 
P. O. Box 8952 
Madison, WI  53707-7882 
Rep.Kerkman@legis.wisconsin.gov 
 
RE:  GAB Performance Public Hearing 
 
Dear Representative Kerkman: 
 
I am writing to express my thoughts on the Government Accountability Board.  I have been a 
municipal clerk/treasurer for over 25 years and have had the responsibility of conducting  
numerous elections.  Before the GAB election management was handled with very little 
oversight from anyone.  There was lack of coordination, no comprehensive training and election 
procedures differed from one municipality to another.  There was no statewide data base, no 
audits, little technology and not much accountability. 
 
GAB has taken on a great task of improving election procedures and they have done a 
tremendous job.  The education and training they are providing the Wisconsin Municipal Clerks 
is enabling us to conduct elections fairly, with continuity statewide and with accountability.  The 
staff at GAB is user-friendly.  They are easy to access and enthusiastic.   Above all, they are  
non-partisan in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. 
 
The Legislative Audit Bureau’s exceptions report should be used as a resource to improve and 
strengthen the GAB.  Please do not disband the Government Accountability Board.  I encourage 
you to provide the support needed for the GAB to continue their function and also provide the 
necessary staffing and funds to improve their operation. 
 
Thank you for allowing me this opportunity. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Susan M. Garsow, WCPC, MMC, CMTW 
City of Seymour Clerk/Treasurer 
 



From: julie hanson [mailto:clerk@spartawisconsin.org]  
Sent: Friday, January 09, 2015 11:54 AM 
To: Sen.Cowles 
Subject: Audit of GAB 
 
Honorable Robert Cowles: 
 
I understand that there is going to be a public hearing next week regarding the GAB. 
I’ve only been a Clerk since 2011, and the GAB has been a HUGE help to me.  The have been invited to 
speak at various Clerk functions and have always been very helpful and knowledgeable. 
If I have any questions on elections, inputting items in SVRS or any other questions, they are always very 
helpful and find the answer for me.  The manuals they put out are helpful and the webinars they offer 
are so valuable. 
 
I can’t think of any changes that would make them any better than they already are.  I couldn’t do my 
job efficiently if I couldn’t reach them when needed. 
Thank you for your time. 
 

Julie Hanson 
City Clerk 
201 W. Oak Street 
Sparta, WI 54656 
608-269-4340, ext. 221 
clerk@spartawisconsin.org 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



From: julie hanson [mailto:clerk@spartawisconsin.org]  
Sent: Friday, January 09, 2015 11:59 AM 
To: Rep.Kerkman 
Subject: Audit of GAB 
 
Honorable Samantha Kerkman: 
 
I understand that there is going to be a public hearing next week regarding the GAB. 
 
I’ve only been a Clerk since 2011, and the GAB has been a HUGE help to me.  They have been invited to 
speak at various Clerk functions and have always been very helpful and knowledgeable. 
If I have any questions on elections, inputting items in SVRS or any other questions, they are always very 
helpful and find the answer for me.  The manuals they put out are very helpful and the webinars they 
offer are so valuable. 
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
 

 

RE:  Public Hearing re: GAB Performance 

 

 

Dear The Honorable Samantha Kerkman: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to express my comments on the Government Accountability Board (GAB) and the 

upcoming hearing regarding the GAB.  

 

The GAB has been a remarkable source of information, training, guidance, reminders and support for the clerks of 

Wisconsin. They are consistent, well informed and professional in all aspects of their jobs. I could only wish other 

Departments within the State were so easy to work with!   

 

I have worked in my municipality for over 20 years with the last 6 years as clerk. Moving into the clerk’s position can be 

daunting and the position was given to me a week before a presidential election. The GAB has been there for me since the 

beginning with the education, manuals and training necessary.  They provide training opportunities for my election staff, 

the office staff and the clerks, in all the various facets of the election process.  

 

 I believe they have been doing a tremendous job and would like to see them continue to be supported by the State of 

Wisconsin through funding and necessary staffing to do their jobs correctly. 

 

When reading the Legislative Audit Bureau’s exceptions report, it appears there was no room for comments on the great 

changes they have already provided for the voters of Wisconsin since their inception.  If anyone has ever worked 

anywhere, in any situation, there is always room for improvement, but to consider disbanding the department is just not 

right! 

 

It is my intention today to ask you NOT to consider disbanding the Governmental Accountability Board, but instead give 

them the necessary tools to make their department even better.  

 

Thank you for your time,  

 

 

 

 

Debbie Koehn 

City of Spooner Clerk/Treasurer 

mailto:Rep.Kerkman@legis.wi.gov





















